ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 49478

JAMES M. CHAPPELL

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

1 **I. INTRODUCTION**

2 In this capital case, Appellant James Chappell challenges the constitutionality of his  
3 sentence of death, which occurred as the result of a second penalty phase trial which  
4 followed a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel for the penalty phase of his first trial.  
5 Chappell was convicted of murdering his long-time girlfriend, who was also the mother of  
6 his three children. The only aggravating circumstance for the second penalty phase trial was  
7 murder committed during the perpetration of a sexual assault. As there was insufficient  
8 evidence to establish this aggravating circumstance, the sentence of death must be vacated  
9 and a sentence less than death imposed. In the alternative, Chappell is entitled to a new  
10 penalty hearing because of the substantial constitutional violations which occurred during  
11 the penalty trial. Finally, this Court should revisit two issues previously considered  
12 concerning the guilt phase of Chappell's trial based upon new authority which establishes  
13 that this Court's prior rulings were erroneous.

14 **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

15 This is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict,  
16 imposing a sentence of death based upon a conviction for one count of first degree murder.

17 **III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 18 A. Whether Chappell's Conviction For First Degree Murder Must Be Reversed Because  
19 The Jury Was Not Properly Instructed On The Elements Of The Capital Offense
- 20 B. Whether Chappell's Conviction For First Degree Murder Must Be Reversed Because  
21 The Jury Was Not Properly Instructed On The Elements Of Felony Murder
- 22 C. Whether Chappell's Sentence of Death Must Be Vacated Because NRS 177.055(3)  
23 Is Unconstitutional
- 24 D. Whether Chappell Was Entitled To Review By The District Attorney's Death Review  
25 Committee
- 26 E. Whether Chappell's Death Sentence Is Unconstitutional Because of the Trial Court  
27 Failed to Dismiss Jurors For Cause Who Would Always Impose A Sentence of Death
- 28 F. Whether Chappell's Conviction Is Unconstitutional Because The State Was Permitted  
To Introduce Unreliable Hearsay Evidence During The Penalty Hearing In Support  
of The Aggravating Circumstance and as Other Matter Evidence
- G. Whether The District Court Erroneously Admitted Presentence Investigation Reports

- 1 H. Whether The District Court Allowed Improper Victim Impact Testimony  
2 I. Whether The District Court Erred In Allowing Admission of Chappell's Prior  
3 Testimony  
4 J. Whether The State Committed Prosecutorial Misconduct By Making Arguments  
5 Based Upon Comparative Worth Arguments  
6 K. Whether The State Committed Extensive Prosecutorial Misconduct  
7 L. Whether The District Court Failed To Instruct The Jury That The State Was Required  
8 To Establish Beyond On Beyond a Reasonable Doubt That Mitigating Circumstances  
9 Did Not Outweigh Aggravating Circumstances  
10 M. Whether The Jury's Failure to Find Mitigating Circumstances Was Clearly Erroneous  
11 and Requires That the Death Sentence Be Vacated  
12 N. Whether There Is Insufficient Evidence To Support The Sexual Assault Aggravator  
13 O. Whether The Sexual Assault Aggravating Circumstance Is Invalid Under McConnell  
14 v. State  
15 P. Whether The Judgment Must Be Reversed Because of Cumulative Error.

16 **IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

17 Appellant James Chappell was charged, on October 11, 1995, via Information with  
18 one count each of burglary, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and open murder with use  
19 of a deadly weapon. I ROA 38. The State based its murder charge on alternative theories  
20 of felony murder and premeditated and deliberate murder. I ROA 39. On November 8,  
21 1995, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty. I ROA 44. It charged  
22 aggravating circumstances of murder in the course of a robbery, murder in the course of a  
23 burglary, murder while the person was engaged in sexual assault or the attempt thereof, and  
24 torture or depravity of mind. I ROA 44-45. Prior to trial, Chappell filed a motion to dismiss  
25 several of the aggravating circumstances. I ROA 250. He argued in part that the aggravating  
26 circumstance of sexual assault should be dismissed because Chappell was not charged with  
27 sexual assault and no evidence was presented during the preliminary hearing that would  
28 support the aggravating circumstance. I ROA 256. The State opposed the motion, but did  
not address the sexual assault issue. II ROA 309-19. The Court denied the motion.

The jury trial began on October 8, 1996, and was presided over by the Honorable A.  
William Maupin. II ROA 355. The jury was instructed on theories of premeditated murder

1 and felony murder. VII ROA 1703, 1721, 1722. The premeditation instruction informed the  
2 jury that “[p]remeditation need not be for a day, an hour or even a minute. It may be as  
3 instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if the jury believes from the evidence  
4 that the act constituting the killing as been preceded by and has been the result of  
5 premeditation, no matter how rapidly the premeditation is followed by the act constituting  
6 the killing, it is willful, deliberate and premeditated murder.” VII ROA 1722. The jury was  
7 also instructed on robbery in general and was instructed specifically that a “taking constitutes  
8 robbery whenever it appears that, although the taking was fully completed without the  
9 knowledge of the person from whom taken, such knowledge was prevented by the use of  
10 fear.” VII ROA 1711. On October 16, 1996, the jury returned verdicts of guilty on charges  
11 of burglary, robbery and first degree murder. VII ROA 1747-49. No special verdict form  
12 was given to the jury, so it is unknown as to whether the jurors relied upon the premeditation  
13 theory, the felony murder theory, or both in finding Chappell guilty of first degree murder.

14 The penalty phase of the first trial began on October 21, 1996. VII ROA 1757. On  
15 October 24, 1996, the jury returned its verdicts in which it found mitigating circumstances  
16 of murder committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or  
17 emotion disturbance and “any other mitigating circumstances.” IX ROA 2126, 2170-71. It  
18 found aggravating circumstances of burglary, robbery, sexual assault, and torture or depravity  
19 of mind and returned a verdict for death. IX ROA 2127-29, 2167-69. Formal sentencing  
20 took place on December 30, 1996. IX ROA 2179. The district court sentenced Chappell to  
21 the maximum terms for burglary and robbery with use of a deadly weapon and ordered that  
22 those sentences run consecutively to the death sentence. IX ROA 2188.

23 The judgment of conviction was filed on December 31, 1996. IX ROA 2190.  
24 Chappell filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court on January 17, 1997, which was  
25 docketed as number 29884. IX ROA 2200. On December 30, 1998, this Court issued its  
26 opinion affirming the conviction. IX ROA 2273; Chappell v. State, 114 Nev. 1403, 972 P.2d  
27 838 (1998). This Court concluded that the district court erred in failing to hold a Petrocelli  
28 hearing, but found admission of evidence uncharged misconduct to be harmless. Id. at 1406,

1 972 P.2d at 840. It also concluded that there was sufficient evidence to support the  
2 aggravating circumstances of burglary, robbery and sexual assault, but insufficient evidence  
3 to support the aggravating circumstance of torture or depravity of mind. Id. at 1407, 972  
4 P.2d at 841. In addressing the robbery aggravating circumstance, this Court noted Chappell's  
5 argument that the evidence showed that he took Panos's car as an afterthought and therefore  
6 could not be guilty of robbery, but rejected that argument because this Court had held "that  
7 in robbery cases it is irrelevant when the intent to steal the property is formed." Id. at 1408,  
8 972 P.2d at 841. Although this Court found the torture or depravity of mind aggravating  
9 circumstance to be invalid, it reweighed the remaining three aggravating circumstances and  
10 the two mitigating circumstances, found the aggravating clearly outweighed the mitigating,  
11 and that a sentence of death was proper. Id. at 1410-11, 558 P.2d at 842. The Court also  
12 rejected other issues raised by Chappell on appeal. Id. This Court denied rehearing on  
13 March 17, 1999. IX ROA 2288.

14 Chappell's petition for certiorari was denied on October 4, 1999. Chappell v. Nevada,  
15 528 U.S. 853 (1999). This Court's remittitur issued on November 4, 1999. X ROA 2353.

16 Meanwhile, on October 19, 1999, Chappell filed a proper person post-conviction  
17 petition for a writ of habeas corpus. IX ROA 2258. The post-conviction matter was assigned  
18 to the Honorable Mark Gibbons. X ROA 2354. A supplemental petition was filed on April  
19 30, 2002. X ROA 2417. Among other issues, Chappell contended that his conviction was  
20 invalid because the jury instruction defining premeditation and deliberation was  
21 constitutionally infirm as it did not provide a rational distinction between first and second  
22 degree murder. X ROA 2456-59 (citing Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700  
23 (2000)). He also asserted that the sentence of death was unconstitutional because of the use  
24 of overlapping aggravating circumstances. X ROA 2465. The State filed its response to the  
25 petition on June 19, 2002. X ROA 2481. The evidentiary hearing took place before the  
26 Honorable Michael Douglas on September 13, 2002. XI ROA 2554. Subsequently, on June  
27 3, 2004, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order. XI  
28 ROA 2745. It denied the petition as to the guilt phase issues, granted the petition as to the

1 sentence, and ordered a new sentencing hearing. XI ROA 2748, 2778.<sup>1</sup> On June 18, 2004,  
2 the State filed a notice of appeal to this Court. XI ROA 2757. On June 24, 2004, Chappell  
3 filed a notice of cross-appeal. XI ROA 2761. On April 7, 2006, this Court issued its Order  
4 of Affirmance in which it upheld the district court's decision. XI ROA 2783. Of relevance  
5 to this appeal is this Court's conclusion that there was no merit to the arguments presented  
6 concerning jury instructions. XI ROA 2790 n.20 (citing Garner v. State, 116 Nev. 770, 788-  
7 89, 6 P.3d 1013, 1025 (2000)). This Court also found the aggravating circumstances of  
8 burglary and robbery to be invalid under McConnell v. State, 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606  
9 (2004). XI ROA2792-95. The remittitur issued on May 4, 2006. XI ROA 2797.

10 Prior to the second penalty hearing, several pretrial motions were filed which are  
11 relevant to this appeal.<sup>2</sup> Chappell filed a motion to strike the sexual assault aggravator. XII  
12 ROA 2801. The State opposed the motion. XII ROA 2890. The district court denied the  
13 motion. XII ROA 2905, 3019; XV ROA 3840.

14 Chappell filed a motion to remand for consideration by the Clark County District  
15 Attorney's Death Review Committee. XII ROA 2817. The State opposed the motion. XII  
16 ROA 2884. The district court denied the motion. XII ROA 2905, 3015; XV ROA 3837.

17 Chappell filed a motion for discovery of potential penalty hearing evidence. XII ROA  
18 2826. The State opposed the motion. XII ROA 2888. The district court denied the motion.  
19 XII ROA 3026. On February 23, 2007, the State filed its notice of evidence in support of  
20 aggravating circumstances. XII ROA 3032.

21 Jury selection began on March 12, 2007. XIX ROA 3932. During the course of the  
22 trial, Chappell objected to the use of hearsay evidence during the penalty hearing on  
23

---

24 <sup>1</sup>The parties stipulated that these were the findings, conclusions and order of Judge  
25 Douglas and agreed that the order should be executed by the Chief Judge of the Eighth  
26 Judicial District Court due to Judge Douglas's appointment to this Court. XI ROA 2748.

27 <sup>2</sup>Judge Cherry briefly presided over the case and heard procedural matters, such as the  
28 setting of the trial date. XII ROA 2912, 2915, 2921. It appears that he may have reviewed  
the pretrial motions, but he did not rule upon them. XII ROA 2919, 2922.

1 Confrontation Clause grounds and noted that this Court had recently rejected this argument,  
2 but presented it so as it preserve the issue for further review. XIII ROA 3050. Chappell also  
3 objected to the presentation of victim impact evidence by persons who were not family  
4 members of Panos. XIII ROA 3107-08, 3177; XV ROA 3678. The district court found that  
5 it had discretion to admit victim impact evidence from non-family members. XIII ROA  
6 3272-73. Over an objection by defense counsel, the district court permitted the State to use  
7 Chappell's testimony from the first trial. XV ROA 3632. Defense counsel had argued that  
8 the testimony was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. The district court also  
9 overruled defense counsel's objection to questions asked by the prosecution and answered  
10 by Chappell concerning the allegation that Chappell had a lot of time to think about his  
11 testimony and to decide what he would say. XV ROA 3632. Chappell's counsel argued that  
12 this was a comment on Chappell's right to remain silent but the district court rejected the  
13 argument after noting that the claim was found to be without merit in post-conviction  
14 proceedings. XV ROA 3632-33.

15 Jury instructions were read in open court on March 21, 2007. XV ROA 3742.  
16 Following closing arguments, the jury returned their verdicts. XV ROA 3737, 3821. They  
17 found the aggravating circumstance of murder committed during the perpetration of a sexual  
18 assault. XV ROA 3737, 3822. The mitigating special verdict form listed the following  
19 mitigators: (1) Chappell suffered from substance abuse; (2) he has had no father figure in his  
20 life; (3) he was raised in an abusive household; (4) was the victim of physical abuse as a  
21 child; (5) he was born to a drug/alcohol addicted mother; (6) he suffered from a learning  
22 disability; and (7) was raised in a depressed housing area. XV ROA 3739-40, 3822-23. The  
23 jury did not find the mitigating circumstance that Chappell's mother was killed when he was  
24 very young, that he was the victim of mental abuse as a child, and other mitigating  
25 circumstances that were asserted to exist by Chappell's counsel. XV ROA 3755. The jury  
26 found that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstance. XV  
27 ROA 3738, 3822-23. The special verdict form for the weighing equation did not indicate  
28 that it was the State's burden to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the mitigating



1 circumstances did not outweigh the aggravating circumstance. XV ROA 3738. The jury  
2 returned a sentence of death. XV ROA 3741.

3 Formal sentencing took place on May 10, 2007. XIX ROA 4015, 4018. The  
4 judgment of conviction was filed the same day. XV ROA 3854. The district court ordered  
5 the judgment stayed pending appeal. XIX ROA 4019; XV ROA 3861. A timely notice of  
6 appeal was filed on June 8, 2007. XIX ROA 3872. This Opening Brief now follows.

7 **V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

8 The State alleged that Chappell killed his girlfriend, Deborah Panos, who was also the  
9 mother of his three children, because she intended to end their relationship. IV ROA 864.  
10 In support of this theory, the State claimed that Chappell had a history of violence toward  
11 Panos and that on August 31, 1995, after he was released from jail, he entered her trailer  
12 through a window, had a fight with Panos that resulted in her being beaten and stabbed to  
13 death, and then stole her car and social security cards belonging to her and their children. IV  
14 ROA 864-86 (guilt phase opening statement). The State also noted that Chappell's semen  
15 was found in Panos's body. IV ROA 887-88. It asserted that Chappell was guilty of  
16 burglary, robbery with use of a deadly weapon, and first degree murder with use of a deadly  
17 weapon. IV ROA 889. It relied upon theories of both premeditated murder and felony  
18 murder in urging the jury to return a verdict of first-degree murder. VII ROA 1627-29  
19 (closing argument). In support of the felony-murder by robbery theory, the State relied upon  
20 Chappell's taking of Panos's car and social security card, which occurred after her death.  
21 VII ROA 1623-24, 1629. In support of its premeditation theory, the State relied upon Jury  
22 Instruction Number 22 which stated that "premeditation need not be for a day, an hour, or  
23 even a minute. It may be an instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind." VII ROA  
24 1630. See also VII ROA 1689. The State also argued that evidence of premeditation existed  
25 because Panos was stabbed 13 times, he did not seek medical attention for her after she had  
26 been stabbed, and he got high on crack cocaine following her death. VII ROA 1635-36.

27 Chappell acknowledged responsibility for Panos's death, but asserted that he did not  
28 commit the offense of burglary because he lived in the trailer and entered through a window

1 only because he did not have a key, and no one was home when he arrived at the trailer after  
2 having been in jail. IV ROA 892 (opening statement). The defense case was that Panos  
3 arrived home and was happy to see him, they had consensual sex, and then later had an  
4 argument because Chappell was jealous over the fact that Panos was seeing other men while  
5 Chappell was in jail. IV ROA 892-93. Later, Chappell discovered a letter by another man  
6 that implied sexual things to Panos, he went into a fit of rage, and killed Panos by stabbing  
7 her. IV ROA 894. Chappell contended that the evidence did not support a finding of first  
8 degree murder, that he took the car after Panos was dead because he did not know what to  
9 do besides leaving, and he was not guilty of burglary because he entered his home without  
10 any intent to commit an offense. IV ROA 892, 895. He asked the jury to return a verdicts  
11 of guilty on the lesser included charges of voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly  
12 weapon and grand larceny auto. IV ROA 896; VII ROA 1660. During closing arguments,  
13 Chappell's counsel noted that he took full responsibility for killing Panos and therefore the  
14 issue at hand concerned premeditation, deliberation and intent. IV ROA 1641, 1645.

15 The State and Chappell's trial counsel entered into a stipulation as to certain facts  
16 concerning August 31, 1995: Chappell entered a trailer rented to Panos through a window;  
17 Chappell engaged in sexual intercourse with Panos; Chappell caused the death of Panos by  
18 stabbing her with a kitchen knife and the act was not an accident; and Chappell was jealous  
19 of Panos because he believed she was giving attention to or receiving attention from other  
20 men. IV ROA 844-45, 850; VI ROA 1312-13.

21 Evidence introduced at trial which is relevant to this appeal includes the following:  
22 A "sexual assault kit," which consisted of samples of biological evidence was taken from  
23 Panos's body. IV ROA 998. There was no testimony by either the coroner or the crime  
24 scene analyst assigned to assist with the autopsy which suggested in any way that there was  
25 bruising, cuts or other trauma in the area of Panos's vagina. IV App 962-1003. Panos was  
26 fully clothed when her body was discovered. IV ROA 996, 1024.

27 Chappell and Panos began dating in high school and had three children together. V  
28 ROA 1231, 1279; VI ROA 1367-68. They began their relationship in Michigan and

1 continued it as they lived in Arizona and Nevada. V ROA 1234-35, VI ROA 1368, 1372-74,  
2 1383. There were previous occasions in which the two fought, broke-up and then reunited.  
3 V ROA 1235-40, 1257, 1311, 1321; VI ROA 1357, 1376-78, 1390. Chappell was possessive  
4 of Panos. V ROA 1247. Panos loved Chappell. V ROA 1250.

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