2
3
4
5 JAMES CHAPPELL,
6 Appellant,
7 v.
8 THE STATE OF NEVADA,
9 Respondent.

Case No. 49478

FILED

AUG 22 2008

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY DEPUTY CLERK

10
11 **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

12 **Appeal From Judgment of Conviction**
13 **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

14 DAVID M. SCHIECK
15 Clark County Special Public Defender
Nevada Bar #000824
16 330 South Third Street, 8th Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2316
(702) 455-6265

17 DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500
State of Nevada

19 CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO

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

1 never highlighted nor brought to the jury's attention. In context, the statement was
2 not an opinion on the appropriate sentencing option directed at the jury, but was an
3 expression of grief from a mother during an interview.

4 In the event this Court does not find the facts of this case distinguishable from
5 Herman, *supra*, the State urges reconsideration of any rule that would allow a judge
6 but not a jury to consider information contained in a presentence report. See State v.
7 Morrow, 968 S.W.2d 100 (Mo. 1998); Conyers v. State, 345 Md. 525, 693 A.2d 781
8 (Md. 1997) (presentence report presumptively admissible in capital sentencing). If
9 anything, capital sentencing procedures allow a jury to consider more, not less,
10 information than a judge in making a sentencing determination. NRS 175.552. If
11 presentence reports are deemed impalpable or highly suspect, then no judge could
12 ever rely upon them in any sentencing matter. Nor can it be seriously argued that
13 character information and criminal history, even for non-violent offenses, is not
14 relevant when the legislature has mandated the inclusion of such information in every
15 presentence report. NRS 176.145. Although presentence reports in general are
16 confidential and not to be made a part of any public record, there is an obvious
17 exception for their use by law enforcement agencies in "performing their duties,
18 including, without limitation, conducting hearings that are public in nature." NRS
19 176.156(2). The discretion to admit all or portions of presentence reports is properly
20 left to the trial judge,⁴ there was no constitutional or plain error in the jury's
21 consideration of these reports, and the holding of Herman, *supra*, should be revisited.

22 **H. The Court Did Not Err in Allowing Victim Impact Testimony**

23 On appeal Chappell challenges the amount of victim-impact testimony allowed
24 in the penalty hearing as well as the alleged inadequacy of the notice of evidence in
25 aggravation. But in the proceedings below, Chappell never complained about lack of
26 notice nor did he object to the excessiveness of the victim impact testimony. Rather,

27
28

⁴ The ability of the trial judge to perform this gatekeeping function is illustrated by the court's refusal in this case to allow the State to present probation violation reports in its rebuttal case. 16 ROA 3773-4.

1 the objection below was limited to relevance and whether non-family members could
2 properly give victim impact statements. 13 ROA 3167. Raised in this way, the trial
3 judge properly overruled the objection reasoning he had discretion in a capital
4 sentencing hearing to allow non-family members to testify. 13 ROA 3167-8; 14 ROA
5 3271-4.

6 Questions regarding the admissibility of evidence during the penalty phase of a
7 capital trial are left to the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent
8 an abuse of discretion. Smith v. State, 110 Nev. 1094, 1106, 881 P.2d 649, 656
9 (1994); see NRS 175.552(3). According to the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in
10 Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 823, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2607 (1991), the admission of
11 victim impact evidence during a capital penalty hearing does not violate the Eighth
12 Amendment and is relevant to show each victim's "uniqueness as an individual
13 human being." There is no equal protection or due process violation where even in
14 non-capital sentencing hearings, the court is not restricted from hearing "any reliable
15 and relevant evidence." NRS 176.015.

16 The trial judge was mindful of the potential for excessive or cumulative victim
17 impact, 13 ROA 3168, and took steps to limit it where appropriate. 14 ROA 3306.
18 Although the victim came from a large, close-knit family, 15 ROA 3685, only two
19 family members were actually called to give testimony, the victim's aunt, Carol
20 Monson, and the victim's mother, Norma Penfield. 15 ROA 3681-90. During her
21 testimony, Carol Monson read short letters from the victim's cousin Christina Reese,
22 and another aunt, Doris Waskowski. 15 ROA 3684-5. None of the victim's three
23 children were called as witnesses, although they were discussed during Norma
24 Penfield's testimony. 15 ROA 3681-90. No objection was made to the family's
25 victim impact testimony. Considering the length of the penalty hearing, the numerous
26 witnesses called in the case, and the victim's large family, the relatively brief victim
27 impact statements by family members were not excessive.

28

1 Appellate counsel acknowledges that victim impact statements may extend to
2 non-family members. Wesley v. State, 112 Nev. 503, 519-20, 916 P.2d 793, 804
3 (1996); Lane v. State, 110 Nev. 1156, 1166, 881 P.2d 1358, 1365 (1994). This
4 explains why the claim has been expanded on appeal to include other issues. Several
5 close friends and co-workers were asked to briefly explain how the murder affected
6 them. These witnesses were primarily called as percipient witnesses to the murder
7 and to discuss the relationship of Chappell and the victim. Unlike the family
8 members who were all called at the end of the penalty hearing solely for victim
9 impact purposes, the non-family members gave very short victim statements at the
10 end of their respective testimonies throughout the penalty hearing. 13 ROA 3107-8,
11 3167-8, 3177-8, 3248. At least one of these witnesses gave victim impact testimony
12 at the first penalty hearing in 1996 belying any claim of lack of notice. 8 ROA 1895-
13 6. As it was not consolidated together and was not the primary focus of their
14 testimony, it did not have the same emotional effect as that offered by the family
15 members. Under these circumstances, there was no abuse of discretion in allowing
16 this testimony.

17 **I. The Court Did Not Err in Allowing Admission of Chappell's Prior Testimony**

18 In the guilt phase of the 1996 trial, Chappell took the stand and testified in his
19 own defense. 6 ROA 1367-1470. In the recent re-do of the penalty hearing this
20 testimony was read-in to the record for the benefit of the newly empanelled penalty
21 jury. 15 ROA 3641-68. In objecting, Chappell's trial attorney acknowledged that
22 prior sworn testimony is generally admissible, but wanted to preserve an issue
23 regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in the 1996 trial for allowing Chappell to
24 testify as he did. 15 ROA 3632. In allowing the prior testimony, the district court
25 reasoned that ineffectiveness in allowing Chappell to testify had not been raised in the
26 post-conviction proceedings and was procedurally barred. 15 ROA 3632-3. Also, the
27 guilt phase had been affirmed twice on appeal. Id.

28

1 Generally, a defendant's testimony at a former trial is admissible against him in
2 later proceedings. Harrison v. United States, 392 U.S. 219, 222, 88 S.Ct. 2008
3 (1968); Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). However, prior
4 testimony that is compelled by constitutional violations is not admissible. Id. In this
5 appeal, Chappell complains that the court should have held a hearing on the
6 ineffective assistance claim. However, the claim was only generally asserted without
7 any particularity of how counsel was ineffective. Making only a general objection to
8 a constitutional issue is insufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. See e.g.,
9 Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 50 P.3d 1100 (2002). A defendant claiming
10 ineffective assistance of counsel must allege with specificity the failings of counsel
11 and how he was prejudiced under Strickland. Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 28 P.3d
12 498 (2001). Bare claims not supported by specific factual allegations are not entitled
13 to relief. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). Furthermore, the
14 decision to testify belongs to the defendant, not his attorney. Ingle v. State, 92 Nev.
15 104, 546 P.2d 598 (1976).

16 Factually, this case is distinguished from the authority relied upon by Chappell.
17 Unlike the prior testimony in Harrison and Byford, *supra*, which was from a
18 conviction that had been reversed, Chappell's prior testimony was from the guilt
19 phase in the same case that had been affirmed and was a final adjudication. It was
20 simply being repeated in the penalty hearing for the benefit of the new jury. The U.S.
21 Supreme Court has approved of the practice of admitting guilt-phase transcripts at a
22 capital resentencing. Oregon v. Guzek, 546 U.S. 517, 522, 126 S.Ct. 1226, 1230
23 (2006). Chappell can not collaterally challenge his trial counsel's effectiveness in this
24 manner.

25 **J. The Prosecutor Did Not Make a Comparative Worth Argument**

26 In this claim Chappell argues the State engaged in misconduct using victim
27 impact testimony to make an improper "comparative worth" argument. This issue
28 was not raised or objected to below. In Payne v. Tennessee, the United States

1 Supreme upheld the admissibility of victim impact testimony in a capital sentencing
2 hearing despite arguments that it might permit a jury to find that defendants whose
3 victims were assets to their community are more deserving of punishment than those
4 whose victims are perceived to be less worthy. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808,
5 823, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2607 (1991). The Court noted that “[a]s a general matter, victim
6 impact evidence was not offered to encourage comparative judgments of this kind –
7 for instance, that the killer of a hardworking, devoted parent deserves the death
8 penalty, but the murderer of a reprobate does not.” Id.

9 Certainly, the prosecutor in the present case drew a distinction between the
10 character of Chappell and that of the victim and her mother in how each dealt with
11 negative circumstances in their lives. 16 ROA 3778-87. But Payne does not hold that
12 all comparative worth arguments are unconstitutional. Humphries v. Ozmint, 397
13 F.3d 206, 224 (4th Cir. 2005), *cert. denied*, 546 U.S. 856, 126 S.Ct. 128 (2005). In
14 fact, the Payne Court recognized that some comparisons would be made between the
15 defendant and the victim. Payne, *supra*, 501 U.S. at 825, 111 S.Ct. 2597. At most,
16 the Payne Court disapproved of comparisons between the victim and other victims of
17 society. Humphries, *supra*, 397 F.3d at 224. No such argument was made in the
18 present case.

19 Nor was the prosecutor in the present case comparing the relative worth of the
20 defendant and victim. See Hall v. Catoe, 360 S.C. 353, 601 S.E.2d 335 (2004). The
21 words, “compare,” “worth,” and “value” appear no where in the State’s closing
22 argument. Instead, the State was contrasting the character of each to show how the
23 exercise of free will and choice affected behavior. Such an argument was fairly
24 supported by the evidence and was in rebuttal to Chappell’s mitigation evidence. The
25 State has a legitimate interest in counteracting the defendant’s mitigating evidence.
26 Payne, *supra*. 501 U.S. at 825, 111 S.Ct. at 2608; see also U.S. v. Fields, 483 F.3d
27 313, 340-1 (5th Cir. 2007) (holding that victim-to-defendant comparison is
28 permissible). Chappell introduced evidence of his own “uniqueness” through the

1 testimony of his mitigation witnesses regarding his own difficult childhood and
2 background, thereby inviting a comparison between Chappell and the victim's
3 respective characters even before the prosecutor gave his closing remarks.

4 In this appeal, Chappell views the victim's evidence solely in terms of victim
5 impact and overlooks its relevance "to rebut specific mitigating evidence" which is
6 also permitted and appropriately considered by a capital sentencing jury. Thomas v.
7 State, 122 Nev. 1361, 148 P.3d 727 (2006). In his closing argument, the prosecutor
8 specifically referred to the defense's expert, Dr. Etcoff, who had testified at length
9 that Chappell's conditions in life had impaired his ability to make free will decisions
10 thereby making him less culpable. 16 ROA 3781. In fact, not only was it the defense
11 who first introduced the concepts of free will and choice to the jury, the defense
12 culminated its examination of Dr. Etcoff by directly eliciting testimony that compared
13 Chappell's relative free will with others in the courtroom even though such was not in
14 evidence. 14 ROA 3514-17. The State was entitled to rebut this mitigation testimony
15 that negative life experiences reduces free will, and did so with specific examples
16 based on facts in evidence properly before the jury.

17 **K. Any Prosecutorial Misconduct Was Harmless**

18 Chappell admits that none of the instances of alleged prosecutorial misconduct
19 raised in this appeal were objected to at trial. The Nevada Supreme Court has
20 consistently held that "failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate
21 consideration of an issue." Gallego v. State, 117 Nev. 348, 365, 23 P.3d 227, 239
22 (2001). In Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 110 P.3d 53 (2005), this Court stated:

23 Timely objections enable the district court to instruct the jury to disregard
24 improper statements, thus remedying any potential for prejudice. Judicial
25 economy requires that this court encourage good trial practice, and
granting new trials for error that could have been corrected with a simple
objection by an alert attorney does not encourage good trial practice.

26 In failing to object to the alleged improper statements, Defendant has waived
27 appellate review. Id. Where Defendant did not object, his challenge to the
28 prosecutor's remarks is subject to plain error review. United States v. Olano, 507

1 U.S. 725, 733-35, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 1777-78 (1993); United States v. Severino, 316
2 F.3d 939, 947 (9th Cir. 2003). Plain error exists only in exceptional circumstances
3 when a substantial right of a defendant is affected. Olano, 507 U.S. at 733-35; United
4 States. v. Mendoza-Reyes, 331 F.3d 1119, 1121 (9th Cir. 2003).

5 In reviewing allegations of prosecutorial misconduct “the relevant inquiry is
6 whether a prosecutor’s statements so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to
7 make the result a denial of due process.” Hernandez v. State, 118 Nev. 513, 50 P.3d
8 1100, 1108 (2002) citing Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S.Ct. 2464
9 (1986); *See also* Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 908, 923, 921 P.2d 886, 897 (1996). The
10 statement should be considered in context and “a criminal conviction is not to be
11 lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor’s comment standing alone.”
12 Hernandez, 118 Nev. 513, 50 P.3d 1100, 1108; citing United States v. Young, 470
13 U.S. 1, 11 S.Ct 1038 (1985). Comments that are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt
14 do not warrant a reversal of a defendant’s conviction. Witter, 112 Nev. 908, 921 P.2d
15 886; Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 765 P.2d 1153 (1988). “If the prosecutor’s
16 reasoning is faulty, such faulty reasoning is subject to the ultimate consideration and
17 determination by the jury.” Green v. State, 81 Nev. 173, 176, 400 P.2d 766, 767
18 (1965).

19 “Inappropriate prosecutorial comments, standing alone, would not justify a
20 reviewing court to reverse a criminal conviction obtained in an otherwise fair
21 proceeding.” United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11-12, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985).
22 The comments must be viewed in context of the trial to determine if the proceeding
23 was prejudiced so as to preclude a fair trial. Id. Thus, an exceptionally strict standard
24 governs courts in granting reversals of verdicts based upon prosecutorial misconduct.

25 First, Chappell argues the State improperly commented on his right to remain
26 silent. This claim refers to the prosecutor’s 1996 cross-examination of Chappell
27 which was considered by the district court judge in admitting the transcript of his prior
28 testimony. 15 ROA 3632; see also, Claim “I” above. In his 2002 post-conviction,

1 Chappell raised a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the
2 State's cross-examination of Chappell. 10 ROA 2447-8. Although Chappell now
3 argues that the judge did not rule on the merits of this claim, that is only true as to
4 deficient performance under the first prong of Strickland for not objecting. 11 ROA
5 2745-6. As to the second prong of Strickland, the trial court plainly ruled on the
6 merits that all claims of attorney error were harmless due to the overwhelming
7 evidence and none of the claims prejudiced the outcome of the case. Id. On appeal,
8 this Court carefully reviewed each of the claims of ineffective assistance including
9 "the failure to object to portions of Chappell's cross-examination by the prosecutor"
10 and found no prejudice whether objected to or not. 11 ROA 2789-90. It was upon
11 this basis that the testimony was admitted in the new penalty hearing and the alleged
12 misconduct in 1996 was of no prejudice.⁵

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